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COMPLAINT 

 
 

DAVID G. TORRES-SIEGRIST State Bar No. 220187  
 
225 S. Lake Avenue 
Suite 300 
Pasadena, CA 91101 
Phone:        (626) 432-5460 
Facsimile:  (626) 446-8927 
dgts@icloud.com   
 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, DJCBP CORPORATION DBA 
TIER ONE CONSULTING, a California Corporation and 
David Ju, an individual 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT 

 

DJCBP CORPORATION DBA TIER 
ONE CONSULTING, a California 
Corporation and David Ju, an 
individual 
                  Plaintiffs, 
                 
               vs. 
 
CITY OF BALDWIN PARK, a 
municipality; ROBERT 
NACIONALES-TAFOYA, an 
individual; ANTHONY 
WILLOUGHBY, II, an individual; 
RICARDO PACHECO, an individual; 
ISAAC GALVAN, an individual; 
MANUEL LOZANO, an individual; 
LOURDES MORALES, an individual 
and Does 1-50 
 
                  Defendants. 

 Case No.:  
 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

1. VIOLATIONS OF 
RACKETEER INFLUENCED 
CORRUPT 
ORGANIZATIONS ACT 
[RICO VIOLATIONS BASED 
ON BRIBERY, KICKBACKS, 
FRAUD AND CONSPIRACY]; 

2. INVERSE 
CONDEMNATION/ TAKING 
(U.S. CONST. 5TH AMEND.);   

3. VIOLATIONS OF CIVIL 
RIGHTS [42 U.S.C. § 1983];  

4. NEGLIGENCE; 
5. FRAUD; 
6. DECLARATORY RELIEF 

 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT 

1. The following lawsuit involves a conspiracy amongst greedy and corrupt City 

Officials and Politicians from the Cities of Baldwin Park and Compton to 

utilize the Commercial Cannabis Industry as a vehicle to perform racketeering 

activities involving bribery, fraud, embezzlement, and abuse of public office. 

2. These individuals acted in concert to orchestrate a swindle on an elderly man 

dying of cancer who poured his lifesavings into a venture that was destined for 

failure from the get-go and nothing more than a collusive scheme marred by 

bribery and corruption. 

3. At one point, the City of Baldwin Park’s own deputy Clerk committed notary 

fraud by attesting in her official capacity that Plaintiff DAVID JU amongst 

others, including the City Attorney and Councilmembers, appeared before her 

to execute a purchased Amended Development Agreement.   

4. Unfortunately for the City Clerk, Plaintiff David Ju was not even in the San 

Gabriel Valley on the day she claims plaintiff executed the agreement in her 

presence. 

5. Ultimately, through the U.S. Attorney’s Office’s unsealed pleas on October 7, 

2022, including the plea of disgraced former Baldwin Park City Councilman 

Ricardo Pacheco, plaintiffs realized that were sold nothing more than an 

endless cycle of debt collusively “negotiated” between a current City Attorney 

and a soon-to-be City Attorney which was destined for failure from the get-go.  

PARTIES 

6. At all times Plaintiff DJCBP CORPORATION DBA TIER ONE 

CONSULTING, (hereinafter “Plaintiff TIER ONE”) is and was a licensed 

and registered Corporation qualified to do business in the State of California. 

7. At all times mentioned herein, Plaintiff DAVID JU, is and was an individual 

residing in the County of Los Angeles.  
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8. Defendant CITY OF BALDWIN PARK, (hereinafter “CITY”) is and was at 

all times pertinent hereto, a municipal corporation and political subdivision 

existing under the laws of the State of California.  

9. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant ROBERT NACIONALES-

TAFOYA, (herein after “TAFOYA”) is and was an individual residing in the 

County of Los Angeles and was employed in the capacity of CITY 

ATTORNEY OF BALDWIN PARK during the events and circumstances 

giving rise to this lawsuit. Defendant is sued in his official capacity, as well 

as his individual capacity.  

10. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant ANTHONY WILLOUGHBY, II, 

(herein after “WILLOUGHBY, II,”) is and was an individual residing in the 

County of Los Angeles and following the license he sold to Plaintiffs was 

employed as DEPUTY CITY ATTORNEY OF BALDWIN PARK. 

Defendant is sued in his official capacity, as well as his individual capacity. 

11. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant RICARDO PACHECO (herein 

after “PACHECO”) is and was an individual residing in the County of Los 

Angeles.  PACHECO was a member of the Baldwin Park City Council  

during the times alleged herein. Defendant is sued in his official capacity, as 

well as his individual capacity. 

12.  At all times mentioned herein, Defendant ISAAC GALVAN (herein after 

“GALVAN”) is and was an individual residing in the County of Los 

Angeles.  During the times alleged herein GALVAN was the Mayor of the 

City of Compton.  Defendant is sued in his official capacity, as well as his 

individual capacity. 

13. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant LOURDES MORALES (herein 

after “MORALES”) is and was an individual residing in the County of Los 

Angeles and was the Deputy City Clerk during the events that give rise to 
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this lawsuit. Defendant is sued in her official capacity, as well as his 

individual capacity. 

14. At all times mentioned herein, Defendant MANUEL LOZANO (herein after 

“LOZANO”) is and was an individual residing in the County of Los Angeles. 

LOZANO was the Mayor of Baldwin Park during the timeframe alleged 

herein.  Defendant is sued in his official capacity, as well as his individual 

capacity 

15.  Defendant CITY is liable for the nonfeasance and malfeasance of Defendants 

TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO and MORALES and 

DOES 1-30 as to Plaintiffs’ state law claims pursuant to Cal. Govt. Code § 

815.2 (a). (“A public entity is liable for injury proximately caused by an act or 

omission of any employee of the public entity within the scope of his 

employment if the act or omission would, apart from this section, have given 

rise to a cause of action against the employee or his personal representative.” 

See also Cal. Govt. Code § 815.6.    

16. Plaintiffs are ignorant of the true names and capacities of Defendants sued 

herein as Does 1-50, inclusive, and therefore sue said Defendants by such 

fictitious names.  Plaintiff will amend its Complaint to allege their true 

names and capacities when ascertained.  Plaintiff is informed and believes, 

and based thereon alleges, that each of these fictitiously named Defendants 

participated or acted in concert with Defendants and is/are responsible in 

some manner for the acts, occurrences and/or omissions alleged herein and 

has thereby proximately caused damages to Plaintiff and is liable by reason 

of the facts alleged herein.  

17. That at all times herein mentioned, each and every defendant herein was the 

agent, servant, employee, partner or joint venturer of the other defendants 

herein; that at all said times, each of said defendants was acting within the 
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course and scope of said agency, service, employment, partnership and joint 

venture. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

18. This civil action is brought to redress alleged deprivations of the Plaintiff’s 

federal constitutional rights protected by 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, the 

Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution, 

California common law, the California Constitution, and the Unruh Act. 

19.  Jurisdiction is founded on 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, and 1367.  

20. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because Defendants 

reside in, and all incidents, events, and occurrences giving rise to this action 

occurred in Los Angeles County, California. 

TORT CLAIMS COMPLIANCE 

21. Plaintiffs have complied with the Government Tort Claims Act as required 

by law with respect to all causes of action brought herein pursuant to state 

law.  

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS 

22. On July 18, 2018, WILLOUGHBY, II as the “sole owner” of Tier One 

Consulting was extended a Development Agreement (hereinafter “DA”) 

ratified and approved by the Baldwin Park City Council.  This DA was 

identified as DA 18-20 as well as Ordinance 1427. 

23. Furthermore, the CITY codified the WILLOUGHBY II agreement by 

enacting Ordinance 1427. 

24. The subject Development Agreement was entered into by and between the 

City and TIER ONE CONSULTING1 with the premises located at 14726 

Arrow Highway (APN: 8414-005-002). 
 

1 It is unclear why or how the City entered into a Development Agreement with an informal entity not 
registered with the State of California as an LLC, Corp or any other type of business entity.  
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25. On October 25, 2018, WILLOUGHBY, II entered into a purchase agreement 

with Plaintiff JU to “sell” his development agreement/cannabis license. 

26. The sale was brokered by GALVAN, the then Mayor of Compton to which 

City Attorney TAFOYA had close ties: i.e. Mr. Tafoya’s wife worked as an 

administrative assistant to Mr. Galvan.    

27. Not by coincidence, TAFOYA’s house and Office were raided 

simultaneously by the FBI on the same day Federal Agents executed a search 

warrant on GALVAN’S on November 3, 2020. 

28. ILLEGALITY OF SALE OR CHANGE OF PROPERTY ADDRESS- At 

the time of the sale of this cannabis license by Deputy City Attorney 

Willoughby II to David Ju, Ordinance 1408 constituted the Baldwin Park 

Commercial Cannabis Ordinance.  This ordinance had been ratified and 

approved by the City Council on April 4, 2018. 

29. Section 127.08 of the Ordinance specifically prohibited the Transfer or Change 

in Ownership or Location of any commercial cannabis license within the City.  

30. Section 127.01 subdivision (v) awkwardly defines “medical cannabis business” 

as “any person engaged in Commercial Cannabis Activities.” 

31. However, in direct contravention to 127.08, purportedly on April 3, 2019, the 

City of Baldwin Park, by and through Defendant LOZANO, with absolutely 

no ratification or input from council, entered into this sham “Amended” 

Development Agreement with Plaintiffs.  

32. Compounding the collusion to swindle Plaintiffs, Deputy City Clerk  

Defendant MORALES, “notarized” the execution proclaiming that on April 3, 

2019 “Manuel Lozano, Jean M. Ayala, Robert N. Tafoya and David Ju 

appeared before her and signed the DA. 

33. Unfortunately for Defendant MORALES, not only did Plaintiff JU actually 

receive and execute the DA for the first time in May of 2019, on the date of the 
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alleged notarization- April 3, 2019- Plaintiff JU was not even in the San 

Gabriel Valley.   

34. Coincidentally, when the notary fraud was brought to light by Plaintiffs’ 

Government Tort Claim, after many years employed by the CITY Defendant 

MORALES abruptly resigned from her position. 

35. Adding fuel to this fire is the fact that WILLOUGHBY, II in cahoots with his 

soon to be law partner, City Attorney TAFOYA forced plaintiffs to make 

payments on the License even before the sale of the license was ever fully 

consummated. 

36. Plaintiff JU who had already been locked into escrow on the property the 

license was to be transferred to, was told by Defendant TAFOYA that if a 

$50,000.00 mitigation payment was not made, the license would be 

“canceled.” 

37. In fact, when reviewing Defendant WILLOUGHBY II’s actual payments 

towards the license/DA, City records reveal that he only was out of pocket less 

than $4,000.00 at the time he sold the license to plaintiffs for hundreds of 

thousands of dollars and in fact simultaneously pawned off his debt to plaintiffs 

under the mitigation fee scheme.   

38. Following are the only out-of-pocket transactions paid by Anthony Willoughby 

before he sold his license to Mr. Ju for hundreds of thousands of dollars.  

39. It is important to note that WILLOUGHBY II appears to have also been acting 

as GALVAN’s personal attorney as well as in his stead as a Compton City 

Council Member during the relevant time periods involving the subject 

transaction as reflected in recent Fair Political Practices Commission 

Investigation into GALVAN’s nefarious political woes which recently 

culminated into the levying of a $245,000.00 fine.  
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40. Furthermore, Defendant TAFOYA’s connection to Defendant GALVAN and 

the City of Compton also ran deep.  TAFOYA personally donated thousands of 

dollars to GALVAN’S political campaigns going back to 2015.  

41. Furthering the connection to GALVAN and the City of Compton is that 

TAFOYA’s wife was employed by the City of Compton since at least 2017. 

42. On October 7, 2022, a plea agreement was unsealed in USA v. Gabriel 

Chavez, bearing U.S.D.C. Criminal Case No. 2:22-cr-00462-MWF. (See 

Exhibit A which is incorporated into the Complaint by reference as though 

fully setforth herein)   

43. The following relevant allegations compromise the integrity of the 

commercial cannabis agreements which apparently were “negotiated” by 

TAFOYA  (aka person no. 1) and consultants, such as Felon Gabriel Chavez.   

44. The plea agreement’s factual basis commences on page 9.   

45. On page 10, the following portion of the plea identifies Defendant TAFOYA as 

person no. 1: 

 

/// 

/// 
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46. On page 11, the plea provides that TAFOYA actually provided to 

PACHECO “a template for a sham consulting agreement.” This portion of 

the plea also establishes that PACHECO accepted bribes in return for his 

votes for commercial cannabis development agreements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

47. The collusion between GALVAN (Person No. 10) and TAFOYA (No.1) was 

made crystal clear on Page 13 of the plea. 
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48.  Most importantly, on October 7, 2022, a plea agreement was also unsealed 

in USA v. Ricardo Pacheco, bearing U.S.D.C. Criminal Case No. 2:20-cr-

00165-ODW (See Exhibit B which is incorporated into the Complaint by 

reference as though fully setforth herein)   

49. The disgraced former City Councilmember’s plea further solidified the 

collusion between TAFOYA (Person No. 1), GALVAN (Person No. 10) and 

now convicted felon PACHECO. 

50. On Page 11 of the factual basis, the PACHECO plea describes: 

 

 

 

 

51.  Most egregiously, the Pacheco plea establishes that both TAFOYA and 

GALVAN were in “business together” at the time they defrauded plaintiffs. 

 

 

 

 

 

52. In fact, the Pacheco plea describes Tafoya being the architect of a collusive 

fraudulent cannabis scheme by the use of “consultants” who would deliver 

“development agreements” to their clients….not negotiated “arms length” as 
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has been represented numerous times by TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, and 

employees of the CITY. 

53. To no one’s surprise, within days of the aforementioned pleas being made 

public Person No. 1 aka Defendant TAFOYA resigned as City Attorney of 

Baldwin Park after 14 years in that position. 

THE CITY’S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE MITIGATION FEE ACT  

54. Putting aside that the Development Agreement was born of fraud and a product 

of corruption, a fundamental flaw with the CITY’s unlawful pursuit of 

mitigation fees as to Plaintiff is the lack of compliance by the CITY with the 

Mitigation Fee Act. 

55. The Mitigation Fee Act contained in the California Government Code 

beginning with Section 66001 et seq, requires a local agency, such as the City 

of Baldwin Park, to identify the purpose of the mitigation fee and the use to 

which the fee will be put. (§66001, subd. (a) (1) and (2).)  The CITY must also 

determine that both 'the fee's use ' and 'the need for the public facility ' are 

reasonably related to the type of development project on which the fee is 

imposed. (§66001, subd. (a) (3) and (4).) In addition, the CITY must 'determine 

how there is a reasonable relationship between the amount of the fee and the 

cost of the public facility or portion of the public facility attributable to the 

development on which the fee is imposed.' (§66001, subd . (b) .)  

56. The "reasonable relationship" standard in the Mitigation Fee Act adopts U.S. 

Supreme Court takings jurisprudence establishing that governmental exactions 

and fees imposed in permits must have an "essential nexus" between a 

legitimate government end and the fee, and that the amount of any fee must be 

"roughly proportional" to the impact created. (Ehrlich, supra at 866 [discussing 
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Dolan v. City of Tigard (1994) 512 U.S. 374 and Nolan v. Cal. Coastal Com. 

(1987) 483 U.S. 825].) 

57. The CITY cannot legally justify the imposition of any mitigation fees under the 

development agreement scheme authored by a corrupt city attorney and self-

dealing crooked politicians.  

THE CITY FAILED TO RETAIN THE MITIGATION FEES IN 

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MITIGATION FEE ACT. 

58. The CITY must deposit the mitigation fees in a separate capital facilities 

account or fund in a manner to avoid any commingling of the fees with other 

revenues and funds.  The CITY may expend the mitigation fees solely for the 

purpose for which they were collected. Any interest income earned must also 

be deposited in that account or fund and must be expended only for the purpose 

for which the fee was originally collected. §66001(a). 

59. To date, the mitigation fees have simply been placed in the General Fund in 

direct contravention to Government Code §66001(e) which provides:“The 

Legislature finds and declares that untimely or improper allocation of 

development fees hinders economic growth and is, therefore, a matter of 

statewide interest and concern.” 

60. Finance Director Rose Tam was deposed on May 20, 2021. 

61. Under oath, Ms. Tam specifically provided that the cannabis “mitigation fees” 

collected were being deposited into the City’s “General Checking Account” at 

the Bank of the West. 

MITIGATION FEES HAVE BEEN UNLAWFULLY UTILIZED BY THE 

CITY IN DIRECT CONTRAVENTION TO THE GOVERNMENT CODE. 

62. Government Code § 66008, in pertinent part specifically states: “The fee shall 

not be levied, collected, or imposed for GENERAL REVENUE 

PURPOSES.” [Emphasis Added].   
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63. However, to date, the CITY has utilized the mitigation fees collected from 

owner/operators for just that: “general revenue purposes.” Mitigation fees 

collected have not been utilized to mitigate any specific cannabis related 

impacts. Ms. Tam in her sworn deposition testimony confirmed that cannabis 

mitigation fees are still being unlawfully used by the CITY for “general 

revenue” purposes: 

64. Furthermore, §66006 (b) expressly requires that the CITY on a yearly basis 

generate a public report identifying: 

(A) The identity of the account in which the mitigation fees are being 

deposited: 

(B) The amount of the mitigation fee charged; 

(C) The beginning and ending balance of the account; 

(D) The amount of the fees collected and the interest accrued; 

(E) An identification of each public improvement on which fees were 

expended and the amount of the expenditures on each improvement, 

including the total percentage of the cost of the public improvement that 

was funded with the mitigation fees. 

65. No reports containing the statutorily required information for 2017, 2018, 2019, 

2020, 2021, 2022 were ever authored, let alone published.   

66. The CITY has never specifically identified exactly what the mitigation fees are 

being used for.  

FIRST CLAIM 

RICO BROUGHT AS TO Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, 

PACHECO, GALVAN, LOZANO, and MORALES AND DOES 1-50 

67. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every allegation as 

set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth herein. 
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68. Plaintiffs constitute a "person" who has sustained injury to their business or 

property by reason of Defendants' conduct, within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 

1964(c). 

69. Plaintiffs alleges that Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, 

GALVAN, LOZANO, and MORALES are all "culpable persons" within the 

meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and 1962(d). 

70. Plaintiff alleges that Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, 

GALVAN, LOZANO, and MORALES and DOES 1-50 have been engaged in 

ongoing criminal activity for the past four years in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

1961 et seq. 

71. Plaintiffs allege, that the pattern has been one of racketeering activity 

involving multiple criminal acts, including but not limited to, bribery, 

kickbacks and other improper relationships throughout the application and 

granting process, as well as defrauding individuals such as plaintiffs through 

the use and abuse of their positions within the CITY.  

72. Defendants received income derived from the pattern of racketeering activity 

violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1962 (a). 

73. Defendants have unlawfully conspired to violate subsections (a), (b), and (c) 

of 18 U.S.C. section 1961 et seq. (the RICO Act) in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

section 1962(d). 

 

SECOND CLAIM 

(Inverse Condemnation) 

BROUGHT AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

74. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every allegation as 

set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth herein. 

75. At all relevant times, Plaintiff is and has been the Property owner for the 
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subject property. 

76. Defendant CITY’s conduct, by and through its employees, including the 

individual named defendants, resulted in substantial interference with the use 

and enjoyment of Plaintiffs’ Property which amounts to a taking and 

damaging of the Property for which Plaintiffs have not been compensated by 

and amounts to inverse condemnation, a Fifth Amendment violation pursuant 

to the U.S. Constitution.  

77. In addition to the damages set forth above, Plaintiff has incurred and will 

incur fees for attorneys, and experts as a result of this proceeding in amounts 

that cannot be ascertained. Said fees are recoverable in this action under the 

provision of the Code of Civil Procedure section 1036. 

 

THIRD CLAIM 

(Damages for Violations of Civil Rights Per 42 U.S.C. Section 1983) 

BROUGHT AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS  

(Municipal liability brought per Monell and its progeny) 

78. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every allegation as 

set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth herein. 

79. The CITY by and through its employees, including but not limited to 

Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and 

MORALES, committed a taking of Plaintiff’s Property without just 

compensation in violation of the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution 

as applicable to the states and their political subdivisions pursuant to the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Section 19 of 

the California Constitution. 

80. In addition, the City deprived Plaintiffs of property without due process of 

law and deprived Plaintiff of the equal protection of law, both in violation of 
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the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Section 

7(a) of the California Constitution. 

81. The actions and omissions of Defendants were undertaken under the color of 

law by and through its employees, including but not limited to Defendants 

TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and MORALES, 

82. Imposition of liability is brought pursuant to 42 USC Section 1983. 

83. Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and 

MORALES, at all times complained herein acted under color of law and 

violated the Fifth Amendment Rights of Plaintiff under the Takings Clause.  

84. The violation by Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, 

LOZANO, and MORALES, caused plaintiffs financial damages as 

previously described.  

85. Imposition of Municipal Liability upon the CITY is pursued in the instant 

case via Monell and its applicable subsets. 

86.  Upon information and belief, a final policymaker, including the City 

Manager and the City Council itself, acting under color of law, who had final 

policymaking authority concerning the acts of the individual CITY 

employees including Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, 

LOZANO, and MORALES, ratified the acts of the defendants’ and the basis 

for them and did absolutely nothing to prevent the constitutional violations. 

87. These final policymakers knew of and specifically approved and/or ratified 

the individual defendants’ acts.  

88. The final policy makers determined that the acts of the individual defendants 

were “within policy” and continued to allow Defendants TAFOYA, 

WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and MORALES, among others 

to continue to deprive individuals, such as plaintiffs, of their property in 

violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution.  
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89. Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and 

MORALES, and DOES 1-50, together with various other officials, whether 

named or unnamed, had either actual or constructive knowledge of the 

deficient policies, practices and customs alleged in the paragraphs above. 

Despite having knowledge as stated above, these defendants condoned, 

tolerated and through actions and inactions thereby ratified such policies.  

90. Said defendants also acted with deliberate indifference to the foreseeable 

effects and consequences of these policies with respect to the constitutional 

rights of Plaintiffs, and other individuals similarly situated.  

91. By ratifying, perpetrating, sanctioning, and tolerating the outrageous conduct 

and other wrongful acts, the CITY Council, CITY Manager and DOES 1-50 

acted with intentional and reckless indifference to Plaintiff’s constitutional 

rights.  

92. As a proximate result of the City's actions and omissions as described herein, 

Plaintiff has suffered injury and damages, and is continuing to suffer injury 

and damages, including but not limited to that which has been described 

above, which are compensable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and Civil Code 

§ 52.1(b), in an amount which cannot now be ascertained but which is within 

the jurisdiction of this Court and shall be determined according to proof at 

trial. 

93. As a further proximate result of the CITY'S actions and omissions, Plaintiff 

has incurred and will incur fees and costs for attorneys and experts, said fees 

and costs being legally compensable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988(b) and (c), 

and California law, in the course of enforcing Plaintiff’s rights under 42 

U.S.C. § 1983 and Civil Code § 52.1(b), and the abovementioned provisions 

of the California and U.S. constitutions. 

94. Good cause exists for an award of exemplary and punitive damages against 
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Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, and 

MORALES for constitutional deprivations.   

95. In addition, Plaintiff seeks an award of compensatory damages as well as 

attorney’s fees against Defendants CITY, TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, 

PACHECO, LOZANO, and MORALES, and Does 1-50. 

 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

NEGLIGENCE  

BROUGHT AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

96. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every allegation as 

set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth herein. 

97. Pursuant to California Government Code § 815.2(a), Defendant CITY as a 

public entity, is vicariously liable for any injuries or damages as alleged 

herein which were proximately caused by an act or omission of any 

employee of Defendant CITY within the course and scope of said employee's 

employment with Defendant CITY. 

98. At all times herein the CITY was negligent in hiring and/or supervising 

Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, 

GALVAN and MORALES who utilized their positions as public 

officials/public employees to defraud plaintiffs.  

99.  Due to the CITY’s negligence in supervision and/or hiring of Defendants 

TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, GALVAN and 

MORALES plaintiffs were damaged financially in a sum according to proof 

at trial.  

 

// 

/// 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

FRAUD 

BROUGHT AS TO ALL DEFENDANTS 

100. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every 

allegation as set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth 

herein. 

101. Pursuant to California Government Code § 815.2(a), Defendant CITY 

as a public entity, is vicariously liable for any injuries or damages as alleged 

herein which were proximately caused by an act or omission of any 

employee of Defendant CITY within the course and scope of said employee's 

employment with Defendant CITY. 

102. Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, 

GALVAN and MORALES knowingly engaged in fraudulent acts and 

omissions and/or otherwise made material misrepresentations with the intent 

to deceive and defraud the Plaintiffs. 

103. Defendants TAFOYA, WILLOUGHBY II, PACHECO, LOZANO, 

GALVAN and MORALES were motivated by corruption and/or actual 

malice, i.e., a conscious intent to deceive, vex, annoy, or harm plaintiffs.  

104. The CITY continues to maintain a fraudulent position even in the midst 

of unsealed plea deals which unequivocally established that the commercial 

cannabis development agreements had been compromised by the corruption 

and unlawful conduct of City Attorney TAFOYA, former councilman 

PACHECO and soon to be identified co-conspirators.  

105. The fraud perpetrated by defendants caused plaintiffs to suffer financial 

damages according to proof at trial.  

 

/// 

Case 2:23-cv-00384-CAS-PVC   Document 1   Filed 01/18/23   Page 19 of 101   Page ID #:19



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 20  
COMPLAINT  

 

 
 
 

SIXTH CLAIM 

DECLARATORY RELIEF 

106. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporate by reference each and every 

allegation as set forth in each paragraph above as though fully set forth 

herein. 

107. An actual controversy has arisen and now exists between Plaintiffs and 

Defendant CITY relating to their respective rights and duties in that 

Defendants are attempting to impose an unlawful mitigation fee on Plaintiffs 

which is invalid and unenforceable as construed by Defendants and as 

applied by Defendants in that: 

a. The Development agreement is a product of corruption and collusion 

orchestrated by a former CITY attorney and crooked politicians.  

b. The CITY’s failure to comply with the Mitigation Fee Act renders 

collection unenforceable: 

i. No reasonable relationship exists between the exaction/fee and 

the cost to the public attributable to commercial cannabis 

activities; 

ii. No impact studies were ever performed by the CITY justifying 

the exaction/fee; 

iii. Mitigation Fees collected were commingled within the CITY’S 

General Account; 

iv. No yearly reports required by the Government Code were ever 

generated by the CITY with respect to any commercial cannabis 

fees collected; 

v. The CITY unlawfully used commercial cannabis mitigation fees 

collected for “general revenue” purposes in contravention to the 

express provisions of the Government Code.  
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c. Defendants’ actions in thwarting Plaintiff’s sale as described above 

constitutes an unlawful taking per the Fifth Amendment of the U.S. 

Constitution as well as the California Constitution. 

108. Plaintiffs desire a declaration of its rights with respect to the application or 

non-application of the Development Agreement as well as the application or 

non-application of any mitigation fees due to CITY’s violation of the 

mitigation fee act. 

109. In the event the Court finds that the Development Agreement is unenforceable 

and/or the Mitigation Fee Act has been violated on one or more of the grounds 

articulated above, Plaintiff requests that this Court issue a permanent injunction 

prohibiting Defendants from applying, enforcing and/or imposing any 

commercial cannabis mitigation fees. 

110. Furthermore, pursuant to Walker v. City of San Clemente (2015) 239 

Cal.App. 4th 1350, and its progeny, Plaintiffs request a refund of ALL 

mitigation fees paid to date from the CITY.  

 

WHEREFORE, PLAINTIFF PRAYS AS FOLLOWS: 

AS TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

1. For special damages; 

2. For general damages;  

3. For costs of suit herein;  

4.   For Statutory Damages; 

5.  For attorney’s fees, including litigation expenses, based on all causes of 

action affording statutory attorney’s fees: 42 U.S.C.§ 1988 

6.  For punitive/exemplary damages as to the individual defendants according to 

proof at trial; 

7. For treble damages per RICO Statute; 
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and 

8. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

Date: January 8, 2023     

 

        

       By:___________________________ 
            DAVID G. TORRES-SIEGRIST 
            Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Additionally, Plaintiffs respectfully demands a jury trial of the present case 

pursuant to the U.S. Constitution, the California Constitution and applicable 

California State and Federal Law.  

Date: January 8, 2023    

 

        

       By:___________________________ 
            DAVID G. TORRES-SIEGRIST 
            Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GABRIEL CHAVEZ, 
 

Defendant. 

 CR No.  
 
I N F O R M A T I O N 
 
[18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2):  
Federal Program Bribery] 

   

The Acting United States Attorney charges: 

 [18 U.S.C. §§ 666(a)(2), 2(a)] 

At times relevant to this Information:  

A. PERSONS AND ENTITIES 

1. The City of Baldwin Park, California (the “City”) was a 

local government located within Los Angeles County in the Central 

District of California.  The City received in excess of $10,000 under 

federal programs in both 2017 and 2018. 

2. The City was governed, in part, by its City Council, which 

adopted legislation, set policy, adjudicated issues, and established 

the budget for the City. 
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3.  The City Council was comprised of four City Council 

members and a mayor, all of whom were elected at large by the City’s 

registered voters. 

4. Ricardo Pacheco (“Pacheco”) was first elected to the City 

Council in 1997 and held that elected position until 2020.  He also 

previously served as the City’s Mayor Pro Tempore.  In both roles, 

Pacheco was an agent of the City.  

5. Defendant GABRIEL CHAVEZ founded Market Share Media Agency, 

an internet marketing company, in 2012. 

B. THE SCHEME  

6. In or around June 2017, the City started the process of 

permitting the sale, cultivation, and manufacture of marijuana within 

the City’s limits.  Shortly thereafter, Pacheco decided to corruptly 

solicit bribe payments from companies seeking marijuana development 

agreements and related permits (“marijuana permits”) in the City.  In 

exchange for the payments, Pacheco would agree to assist and assist 

the companies, using his official City position, with obtaining 

marijuana permits.   

7. Pacheco elected to use an intermediary to funnel the bribe 

payments to himself in an effort to disguise the true nature of the 

payments.  The scheme would operate as follows: a company seeking a 

marijuana permit would pay the intermediary for supposed “consulting” 

services, the intermediary would then split a portion of the money 

with Pacheco, and Pacheco would then vote in favor of the company’s 

desired marijuana permit in exchange for the payment.  Pacheco would 

also agree to use his influence as a City Council member to ensure 

that other members of the City Council voted in favor of the 

marijuana permit as well. 
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8. Defendant CHAVEZ was asked by Pacheco to act as an 

intermediary to funnel bribes to Pacheco, and defendant CHAVEZ 

agreed.  

9. To help conceal the bribery scheme, defendant CHAVEZ 

obtained a template for a sham consulting agreement from Person 1, 

which defendant CHAVEZ thereafter used to facilitate and disguise the 

scheme. 

10. Defendant CHAVEZ used his company, Market Share Media 

Agency, to funnel bribe payments to Pacheco in exchange for Pacheco’s 

votes and influence over the City’s permitting process to secure 

marijuana permits for two companies, Marijuana Company 3 and 

Marijuana Company 4. 

11. Defendant CHAVEZ obtained bribe payments to pass to Pacheco 

from Person 14, who was helping Marijuana Company 4 obtain its 

marijuana permit.  To conceal the true nature of the payments, the 

bribes defendant CHAVEZ accepted were disguised as consulting 

payments from Person 14’s consulting company to defendant CHAVEZ’s 

company, Market Share Media Agency.  Defendant CHAVEZ kept the 

remainder of the payments not provided to Pacheco in exchange for 

defendant CHAVEZ’s services as an intermediary for the bribe 

payments.  

/// 

/// 

///   
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C. THE BRIBERY  

12. Beginning in or around August 2017 and continuing to in or 

around March 2018, in Los Angeles County, within the Central District 

of California, defendant CHAVEZ, aiding and abetting Pacheco, Person 

14, and others, demanded, accepted, and agreed to accept things of 

value, namely, at least $125,000 from Marijuana Company 3 and at 

least $45,000 from Person 14 through Person 14’s consulting company, 

intending to influence and reward Pacheco, an agent of the City of 

Baldwin Park, in connection with a business, transaction, and series 

of transactions of the City having a value of $5,000 or more, 

specifically, the City’s approval and awarding of marijuana 

development agreements and related permits. 

 
  
 STEPHANIE S. CHRISTENSEN 

Acting United States Attorney 
 
 
 
 
SCOTT M. GARRINGER 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief, Criminal Division 
 
MACK E. JENKINS 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Chief, Public Corruption and  
Civil Rights Section 
 
THOMAS F. RYBARCZYK 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Public Corruption and Civil      
Rights Section 
 
LINDSEY GREER DOTSON 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Deputy Chief, Public Corruption   
and Civil Rights Section 
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